8 German Printings of the MARTYRS MIRROR

German Printings of the
MARTYRS MIRROR

by David Luthy

The first edition of Thieleman van Braght’s Martyrs
Mirror was published in the Netherlands in 1660. lis
language was that of its compiler—Dutch. While the
Dutch Mennonites could easily read and appreciate the
volume’s 1,290 pages, Anabaptists living in German-
speaking areas could not. They wished for a German
translation.

It is an odd but true fact that the first German Mar-
tyrs Mirror was not published in Europe where there
was an early demand. It was published in North
America. In fact, all but one of the German editions have
been published here.

The 1748-1749 Ephrata Printing

The first German edition of the Martyrs Mirror came
about as the result of a war. In 1744, England and
France declared war. The Mennonites residing in the
English colony of Pennsylvania feared that the colonies
would be forced into the conflict which would severely
test their nonresistant faith. They felt that an edition of
the martyr accounts in their German language would
help their brethren to remain faithful to the principle of
nonresistance.

Thus, in October of 1745 four Mennonites from the
Franconia area of southeastern Pennsylvania wrote to
the Dutch Mennonites asking for assistance in
translating and printing a German edition. Since no reply
was received for three years, the Pennsylvania Men-
nonites had meanwhile found a printery in their own
neighborhood to undertake the gigantic task. A group
of Seventh-Day Baptists (a branch of the Dunkards) had
established a paper mill and a printing press at their
Ephrata Cloister in 1745. One of their brethren, Peter
Miller, knew many European languages and was assign-
ed the job of translating the huge volume from Dutch
to German. Records kept by two of the celibate brethren
at the Cloister reveal what a major task the printing was:

After the building of the mill was completed, the print-
ing of the Book of Martyrs was taken in hand, to which
important work fifteen Brethren were detailed, nine of
whom had their work assigned in the printing depart-
ment: namely one corrector who was at the same time
the translator, four compositors and four pressmen; the
rest had their work in the paper mill. Three years were
spent on this book, though not continuously, for there
was often a want of paper. And because at that time
there was little other business in the Settlement, the
household of the Brethren got deeply into debt which,
however, was soon liquidated by the heavy sale of the
book.

The book was printed in large folio form, contained
sixteen reams of paper, and the edition consisted of
1300 copies. At a council with the Mennonites, the price
of one copy was fixed at twenty shillings (about one
pound) which ought to be proof that other causes than
eagerness for gain led to the printing of the same.
[Chronicon Ephratense, p.213]

The finished volume was a masterpiece of Colonial
printing. Its 1,512 pages were bound between half-inch-
thick boards covered with leather. Brass corner pieces
were fitted onto the covers. The finished product
measured 10 x 14 x 42 inches. Weighing thirteen
pounds, it was the largest book printed in Colonial
America.

Not only is the volume’s binding a work of craftsman-
ship, so are the pages. The typeface is large, so (as the
preface states) “it may suit the eyes of all.” Nearly every
page has a decorative initial capital letter at the begin-
ning of new accounts which adds to the book’s beauty.
In some of the volumes a full-page illustration showing
John the Baptist baptizing Jesus by immersion was in-
cluded opposite the front title page. Since the printers
of the volume were Dunkards, it was only natural that
they depicted the baptist in their mode. Historians for
many years thought that copies bearing this illustration
were rare, but recent research reveals that it was plac-
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ed in nearly one-half of the volumes, including copies
purchased by Amish and Mennonites. All the copies
have a picture on the front title page showing a man
digging with a shovel. He is entwined with branches tied
in an oval shape. The words ‘‘Arbeite und Hoffe’’ (*‘Work
and Hope™’) are printed in a semi-circle above the man’s
head. This picture was patterned after the illustration on
the title page of the original Martyrs Mirror, the Dutch
edition of 1660. Several other insignificant illustrations
or ornaments appear in the Ephrata edition.

Since the volume is divided into two portions or divi-
sions, there are two title pages. The first bears the date
1748, while the second has 1749 which indicates the
large volume was not completed until that year. Five
years later in 1754, Israel Aerelius, the author of History
of New Sweden, visited the Ephrata Cloister and was
shown the large volume. He commented:

We went down again to Miller’s room, and there he
showed me the History of the Persecution of the
Anabaptists, a large and thick folio volume, which he
himself had translated from the Holland into the Ger-
man language, and had afterward had it printed there
in Ephrata, saying it was the largest book printed in
Pennsylvania, and also that he had labored for three
years upon the transiation, and was at the same time
so burthened with work that he did not sleep more than
four hours during the night...The edition of Miller’s book
was one thousand two hundred copies, of which seven
hundred have been circulated and five hundred are still
on hand. He said they could be sold within ten years.
| think he meant twenty. The price is twenty-two shill-
ings. | asked him how they could be sold at so low a
price. Why not? said he; for we do not propose to get
rich.

However, the remaining copies were not sold during
the next *‘ten years’ nor during the next twenty. Several
hundred still lay unbound at the Ephrata Cloister when
the Revolutionary War began in 1775. Since there was
a serious shortage of all war materials including paper,
the unbound Martyrs Mirrors were confiscated by the
Patriots. Six soldiers arrived one day at the Cloister,
demanded the unbound copies, paid for them, and load-
ed them into two wagons. They were taken to a muni-
tions factory in Philadelphia where about 150 were us-
ed to make cartridges for the Patriots’ muskets. One
historian writes: *‘And so it came to pass that the book
which was printed with so much care and toil and
sacrifice to teach young men not to fight, was rammed
down American muskets and sent flying after the Red-
coats and Hessians.”” After the war, Joseph Von Gun-
dy and other concerned parties purchased the remain-
ing 175 copies from the government. Two of these
copies are today in Heritage Historical Library in the
Amish community at Aylmer, Ontario. [For a more com-

plete account of this historic event, see ‘“The Ephrata
Martyrs Mirror Shot From Patriots’ Muskets’’ in the
January 1986 issue of Family Life.]

The 1780 Pirmasens Printing

In 1779 an Amish bishop, Hans Nafziger, in the
Palatinate region of Germany drew up a church
discipline or ministers’ manual. The first part contains
a lengthy explanation of how to conduct the communion
service. The second part contains sixteen articles or
rules. Forty-eight ministers representing twenty-two
Amish congregations in Europe signed their names in
agreement with the church discipline.

The following year, 1780, Hans Nafziger published
the second German edition of the Martyrs Mirror.
Although his name does not appear anywhere in the
volume, he is credited with having published it. The only
indication the volume itself gives as to publisher are the
words on the front title page: ‘‘von der vereinigten
Briiderschaft in Europa’ (‘‘from the united Brotherhood
in Europe’). This, undoubtedly, is referring to the
twenty-two congregations which had signed the church
discipline the previous year.

Some copies have a variant front title page which
states ‘‘von etlichen der Briiderschaft” (“‘from several
of the Brotherhood”’). It also includes the printer’s name:
“Johann Friedrich Seelig, Hochflrstl. Hof=und
Canzley = Buchdrucker, 1780.” However, the other ti-
tle page at the beginning of the second division does
contain the words ‘‘Im Verlag der vereinigten
Briiderschaft.”” This term also appears twice in the
epilogue on the next-to-the last page in all copies. lts
caption is translated ‘“‘Short Epilogue by Several
Ministers of the Mennonite Church for the Second High
German Edition of the Martyr Book.”

Very few copies of the 1780 edition have been
discovered with another variant title page. It shows two
angels hovering in the air and holding the top corners
of a square banner which contains the unique title: Der
Blutige Tonnell Der Tauffs-Gesineden oder
Wehrlosen Christen. Surrounding the banner is a
series of scenes depicting martyrdom. No mention is
made on it of the *‘united Brotherhood’’ or the printer’s
name, but it does contain the words ‘“verlegt in der
Hochfirh. Cantzley-buch Truckerey, Im Jahr 1780.”

Two of the three aforementioned 1780 title pages
include the name of the town, Pirmasens, where this
edition was printed. One does not.

For all practical purposes the 1780 edition is a reprint
of the 1748-1749 Ephrata edition. But it is not an exact
rendering of the Ephrata language, for there are dif-
ferences in spelling, capitalization, and hyphenization;
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for example, “‘Landschafften’ becomes ‘‘Landschaften;”
“Roémischen’ becomes ‘‘rémischen;”” and ‘‘Menschen-
Geboten” becomes ‘“Menschengeboten.”

The 1780 edition has marginal notes beside the text
as does the Ephrata edition. It also has decorative in-
itial capitals at the beginning of each account, but they
are only half as large as the ones in the Ephrata volume.
The text itself is in the same order except in some copies
of the 1780 printing the initial 56-page section in the
Ephrata edition appears on 52 pages in the middle of
the volume; however, some 1780 copies do have it in
the front.

Because of its smaller typeface, the 1780 edition con-
tains nearly 200 fewer pages than the previous printing:
1,316 rather than 1,512. However, it does contain a ma-
jor new feature—104 illustrations by the Dutch artist, Jan
Luyken. Originally they appeared in the second Dutch
edition of the Martyrs Mirror printed in 1685. Most of
the illustrations depict Christian martyrdom and have
captions beneath them in both French and German, but
eight are in Dutch and two have no caption at all. The
most famous of the 104 pictures (and the most often
reprinted) is the scene showing Dirk Willems kneeling
on thin ice to save the life of his pursuer who fell through
the ice. ‘

Besides the Luyken etchings, there are numerous
other illustrations. Some are merely ornaments which
the printer used to fill up blank space in the platen to
keep the ink roller from dipping and smudging the
paper. They are flowers, shells, or intricate designs. A
large (3 x 6 inch) illustration appears above the preface
on page 6 of the volume’s second division. It shows a
stately formal garden with trimmed evergreens, stone
pillars, and fountains. In the center is a pedestal upon
which rests a crown, and the sun has a human face.
It represents God smiling at the martyrs who are sym-
bolized by the crown. No artist’s name appears.

One thousand copies are thought to have been
printed of the Pirmasens edition. It is as lovely as the
Ephrata edition and much more scarce.

The 1814-1815 Lancaster Printing

The third German edition of the Martyrs Mirror was
printed by Joseph Ehrenfried of Lancaster, Penn-
sylvania. Although it bears the date 1814 on both title
pages, it was not completed until the following year, for
the preface is dated May 1815. It states that this edi-
tion was published in the interests of ‘“Mennonite
ministers and leaders.” They likely were concerned
because of the War of 1812 which was being waged at
that time.

Basically the text of the Lancaster edition is a reprint

of the Ephrata. However, minor spelling differences oc-
cur, and fewer words are abbreviated. The Ephrata edi-
tion often had *‘u.” for “‘und”, **h.” for “‘heilige,” etc.

By using smaller typeface and wider pages, Ehren-
fried was able to reduce the volume’s thickness to 1,014
pages; whereas the Ephrata edition had 1,512. Another
way the weight was reduced was by substituting card-
board for actual boards under the leather covers. The
Lancaster edition weighs nine pounds which is four less
than the Ephrata. But by becoming more compact, it
lost some of its beauty. Smaller boldface letters replac-
ed the decorative initial capitals which graced the pages
of the Ephrata edition.

The only illustrations in the 1814-1815 edition are a
new rendering of the *‘Arbeite und Hoffe’’ picture on the
front title page and a pair of birds on the second divi-
sion’s title page.

This edition has marginal notes like the Ephrata and
Pirmasens and is the last Mértyrer Spiegel to have
them. Future editions have the notes at the bottom of
each page rather than along the sides of the text. This
edition is also the last to have a word at the bottom of
each righthand column telling what the word on the next
page will be. This was a very old practice so the reader
would not lose his train of thought while turning the
page.

It is not known how many copies were printed, but
there must have been several thousand for it is com-
monly found. It apparently did not sell well, for it is said
to have caused Ehrenfried’s bankruptcy a few years
later.

The 1849 Philadelphia Printing

The fourth edition of Der Martyrer Spiegel was
published in 1849 by an Amish layman, Shem Zook,
who according to the volume’s title page lived “near
Lewistown, Mifflin County, PA.”” The actual printing was
done by King and Baird of Philadelphia whose imprint
also appears on the title page. Its pages measure eleven
inches which is about three inches shorter than those
of the three earlier editions. Bound in leather with 1,047
pages, the volume weighs 612 pounds or half that of the
Ephrata edition a century earlier. Looking at it in line
with the earlier editions, one can readily see a difference
in size. Another major difference, however, is not so
readily seen. This is the first edition where textual
changes were made. The publisher mentions this in his
preface, stating ““A man of undoubted ability not only
guided the printing of this work but also noticeably im-
proved the language and style...”

Whether this person was Shem Zook or his talented
half-brother, David, is not known. David had translated
some of Wilhelm Wynantz’s sermons from Dutch to Ger-
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man and published them in 1830. He was skilled in the
German language, but so was Shem. Actually the
publisher wanted to make greater changes. In the
preface he explains that he wished to leave out certain
sections which, in his opinion, would improve the book.
But people opposed his ‘‘shortening or changing any
portion.” Thus, only the language was changed.

The preface is mistakenly entitled “‘Preface to the
Third High German Edition.” The publisher apparently
was not aware of the Pirmasens edition. The 1849 is
the third American edition but the fourth in the German
language.

A special illustration “Noble Army of Martyrs™ ap-
pears on the page facing the front title page. It is based
on a nearly identical illustration, ‘‘Die edle Zahl der Mar-
tirer’’, which appeared in the German language edition
of Fox’s Aligemeine Geschichte des Christlichen
Marterthums published in Philadelphia in 1833
(copyrighted in 1831). The 1849 illustration was engrav-
ed on steel by Peter Maverick and depicts the martyr-
dom of Saints Mark, Stephen, Matthias, John, Peter,
and Andrew in a series of sketches surrounding a larger
picture in the center of Christ crucified. The illustration
is bordered by a lovely design made to look like an or-
nate picture frame.

The ““Arbeite und Hoffe” picture on the front title page
is a better version of the one which appeared on the
title page of the Ephrata edition. However, the historical-
ly important illustration in the 1849 edition appears on
the title page of the second division. It depicts the bap-
tism of Jesus by John the Baptist and shows both stand-
ing in the Jordan River (but the artist made it look more
like the Rhine River). At the time this edition was publish-
ed, there was a baptismal controversy in Shem Zook’s
home community. One of the Amish bishops there was
promoting the idea of baptizing people in ‘“living (flow-
ing) water’’—streams or creeks. He did not immerse the
people but had them kneel while he dipped water from
the stream over their heads. The controversy led to a
church division in Mifflin County and spread to other
Amish and Mennonite communities. That Shem Zook
included this particular illustration indicates he sup-
ported those favoring baptism in streams. The 1849 edi-
tion is the only Martyrs Mirror which contains the
illustration.

This edition can still be found in Amish homes and
is a handsome volume. It was the last edition to have
a rope binding and clasps to keep the covers closed.

The 1870 Elkhart Printing

The fifth edition of Der Martyrer Spiegel was publish-
ed by John F. Funk and his brother Abram K. Funk
(““John F. Funk und Bruder”’) in 1870 at Elkhart, Indiana.

The preface to this edition is mistakenly entitled “Fourth
High German Edition” and mentions each of the
previous three American editions but is silent concern-
ing the 1780 Pirmasens printing. Apparently, even at
this late date, the European edition was not well known
in America.

The publisher also mentions in the preface that this
new printing is arranged according to the 1849 edition
but does have ‘‘some improvements in language, cor-
rections of quoted Scripture verses, etc.”” Although
some changes were made, the 1870 edition very closely
follows the 1849. In fact, it is the first printing whose
pages correspond in content with a previous edition. The
word order in the columns does not always match, but
an obvious effort was made to have the pages follow
the format of the 1849 edition. This format has been the
basis for all later editions. Each edition after the 1849
has the same pagination so that the page numbers in
the index of one correspond with those in all of the
others.

Not all copies of the 1870 edition have the same full-
page illustration facing the front title page. Three dif-
ferent illustrations have been documented. One is an
imitation by the Acme Engraving Company of Chicago
of the picture which appeared opposite the title page
in the 1685 Dutch edition. It shows two naked angels
hovering in midair while holding a banner which bears
the volume’s title. This picture, depicting martyrdom and
other Christian characters, also has a woman and
children wearing very little clothing. This illustration ap-
peared in an advertising circular which was distributed
while the 1870 edition was being printed. Perhaps com-
plaints were sent to the publisher, for this picture was
bound into only some of the copies.

The second variant illustration which appears op-
posite the front title page in some of the copies is iden-
tical to that which appeared in the 1833 edition and
subsequent printings of Fox’s Aligemeine Geschichte
des Christlichen Marterthums. It is captioned “Die
edle Zahl der Martirer”’ (““The Noble Band of Martyrs™).
The Funk brothers must have purchased a plate for it
directly from the Philadelphia printers. [For a descrip-
tion of it, see the entry for the 1849 edition.]

The third variant illustration is the rarest of all. It us-
ed “The Noble Band of Martyrs’’ as its model, but the
sequence of martyr scenes has been changed and a
new martyr “‘Vitalus” added. The style of the drawing
is also quite different, being almost like cartoon art. At
the bottom of the illustration appear the name of the ar-
tist, “Wm. R. Palin,” and the company in Chicago which
manufactured the plate, ‘‘Hallock & Chandler-Chi.”

The volume’s publisher, John F. Funk, advertised the
book in his periodical, Herald of Truth, but made no
mention of the three different illustrations. Apparently
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customers received whichever he chose to send them.

The **Arbeite und Hoffe"" illustration, which appeared
on the front title page of all earlier German editions ex-
cept the Pirmasens, is on the title page of the 1870 edi-
tion. It is nearly identical to the one on the 1849 title
page, but the spired church house in the background
has been replaced with a one-story frame structure.

On page 629 at the end of the second division is a
small illustration of a naked child leaning on two en-
twined wedding rings—a most unusual picture with
which to end an Amish and Mennonite devotional book.

Although this edition was advertised as ‘‘bound after
the style of the last edition published by Shem Zook,”
it is inferior to it. The 1849 edition had a rope binding.
At first glance the 1870 also appears to have such. Ac-
tually there are no small ropes or cords holding its
covers in place. Instead, the leather covering the spine
has been slightly padded in four places to make it ap-
pear as if it has a rope binding.

Originally the 1870 edition sold for $6.00; or if a per-
son purchased twelve copies, he received the thirteenth
free. By 1906 the printing was almost sold out, and the
price was $5.00.

The 1915 Scottdale Printing

The sixth German edition of the Martyrs Mirror was
printed in 1915. By this time the 1780 Pirmasens print-
ing was known in America, so that the preface to the
1915 edition correctly calls itself the ‘‘Sixth High Ger-
man Edition.” It also states that the “present edition is
an unrevised reprint of the last edition.” This is true.
However, since a different typesetting was used with
more space between the words, wider columns were
needed. Because of this, the 1915 is a little wider and
taller than its two predecessors but still small when com-
pared with the first three editions.

This is the only edition which has a date stamped on
the spine; “1916” appears there along with ‘“Mennonite
Publishing House, Scottdale, Pa.” Since both title pages
have “1915”, the date on the spine indicates the copies
were not bound until the following year. This was the
last edition to be bound in leather—some in full-leather
and others in half-leather.

Since the volume’s spine and title pages bear the im-
print of the Mennonite Publishing House at Scottdale,
Pennsylvania, it would appear to have been the
publisher. However, evidence indicates it was the printer
but not the publisher. The 1915 edition was financially
sponsored by the Old Order Amish. A letter concerning
it appeared on pages 393-394 of the December 1, 1914
issue of the Amish periodical, Herold der Wahrheit. It
was written by John ““Hansi”’ E. Borntrager, an Amish
minister of Lagrange County, Indiana. Following is a
translation of part of what he wrote:

A New Edition of the Martyrs’ Mirror

This book was last printed in 1870. This edition is
already long sold out. Now, many of our young people
are growing up and also have a desire to have this book
to read and should have it along with the Bible in their
homes. Since it can no longer be gotten, there is a
need.

To help out with this need, we have set about to
discover under what conditions this book might be new-
ly printed, as we have already announced in the
Budget. Now, Brother L.A. Miller of Arthur, lllinois has
written me that he has entered into an understanding
with the Mennonite Publishing House at Scottdale that
they would print it and bind it in leather for $3.50 apiece,
when we can find sales for 1,000 or more copies.

Thus, Brother L.A. Miller has asked me to make this
known through the Herold der Wahrheit. We want to
try it now and see how many buyers we can get.

So we request that all the ministers of our churches
will make it known and appoint someone to obtain
subscriptions and as much as possible to forward them
to Brother L.A. Miller or me.

We wish that this work be undertaken with
earnestness in all our Old Order Amish churches from
Pennsylvania to Oregon that as many orders be
gathered as possible to see if we can get 1,000
customers.

Since so many of our people do not read the Herold
der Wahrheit, this will be announced again in the
Budget.

-Hans E. Borntrager
Shipshewana, Ind.

Two months later L.A. Miller, the Amish publisher and
bookseller at Arthur, lllinois, wrote a letter to the Herold
der Wahrheit, giving a progress report. He stated:

Many, perhaps, are eager to know how we are pro-
gressing with the new edition of the Martyrs’ Mirror.

The complete number of subscribers thus far is 514
from 38 churches, several of which hope yet to send
in more orders. These are about half of our churches.
From the other half we have no more news than that
some of them are gathering subscribers.

We would rejoice when all efforts could be made with
this work to hurry and send in the orders as soon as
possible, so that all are sent in by Feb. 15 so we can
send them in by March 1.

There is a great difference in the number of
subscribers from the various churches, from 2 to 35.
The largest number comes from a Russian-Mennonite
church in Kansas.

Over a year later a small announcement appeared in-
the August 15, 1916 issue of Herold der Wahrheit:
“The new edition of Der Mértyrer Spiegel is printed and
is in the hands of the binder. The binding will require
a few weeks. Whoever wishes to have this book. and
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has not yet sent his order, should write to: L.A. Miller,
Arthur, 1L’

The subscribers paid only $3.50 which was much
cheaper than the 1870 edition. Since the 1915 was sold
at the wholesale price, it cost less. However, people who
purchased it after the pre-publication offer had expired
paid more. L.A. Miller was selling it in the 1930s for
$5.00.

The 1915 edition has no new illustrations. It repeats
the two which appeared in the 1870 edition: ‘““The No-
ble Band of Martyrs’ opposite the front title page and
the “Arbeite und Hoffe’’ at the bottom of the title page.

The 1950 Berne Printing

The seventh edition of Der Mértyrer Spiegel was
printed in 1950. Since it has a maroon cloth cover, it
can be easily recognized. According to its title page, it
was ‘‘Printed and Published by Light and Hope
Publishers, Berne, Indiana.” It is true that Light and
Hope did the printing, but it was actually published by
the Old Order Amish of Lagrange County, Indiana. An
Amish layman, Levi D. Christner, was in charge of the
project at the request of his brother Cornelius Christner,
a bishop. Assisting Levi were Ezra Yoder, Ervin Eash,
and C.D. Troyer.

Subscribers to the 1950 edition were solicited through
advertisements in The Budget. The books were to be
sold at cost plus postage and handling. The printing cost
was $4.15, and the books were sold for $5.00. Quite like-
Iy 1,000 copies were printed, but actual records show
878 were sold of which 324 went to J.A. Raber, the
Amish bookseller at Baltic, Ohio. Raber had collected
subscriptions and also purchased copies to sell in his
bookstore and via his annual almanac. His retail price
for the volume was $6.50.

Copies of the 1950 edition found their way to Europe
in 1951 through the charity of Budget subscribers.
Jonathan B. Fisher, an Amish layman, asked the
readers of his weekly Budget column, ‘“‘Lancaster Co.
Briefs,”” to donate money so copies could be sent to
displaced German-speaking Mennonites. These people
had fled their homes in Russia and Eastern Germany dur-
ing World War Il and resettled in West Germany. Dona-
tions of $5.25 were to be sent to C.D. Troyer of Topeka,
Indiana who had the remaining copies of the 1950 prin-
ting. Troyer commented on this in a letter in The Budget:

From the recent printing of the German Martyrs’ Mir-
ror, the committee decided to set aside about 40 copies
for the German-reading Mennonites of Europe. Nearly
all of them hail from the Jakob Ammon side. It is hoped
that by reading the Martyrs’ Mirror they will become
more steadfast in the faith and in their stand against
military acceptance.

Enough money was donated so that 70 copies were
sent to these families. The Mennonite Central Commit-
tee of Akron, Pennsylvania shipped the books with their
regular relief shipments to Europe.

The 1950 edition was the first to be done by
photoreproduction. The printer photographed the 1915
edition at 95%, thus reducing the size of the pages but
also the print. The Amish publishers were not pleased
with the finished product. Had they known that the
printer wanted a somewhat smaller volume, they would
have advised him to photograph the 1870 edition so the
print would not have needed to become smaller. Another
fault of the 1950 edition is that many pages are difficult
to read because the printer used too much ink. The
heavily inked words are very black and not always clear.
This heavy inking and 5% reduction in size also affected
the volume’s two illustrations. The martyrs in ““The No-
ble Band of Martyrs” are hard to distinguish, and the
“Arbeite und Hoffe’’ picture is inferior to the original.

The 1950 edition is merely a reprint of the 1915 edi-
tion and contains that volume’s preface. In fact, all future
printings contain this “‘Preface to the Sixth High Ger-
man Edition.”” The 1950 edition, however, does contain
two features which the 1915 did not have. It has a seven-
page concordance (‘‘Kondordanz’’) at the back which
lists the references in the volume to such religious terms
as baptism, communion, excommunication, etc. And
this edition contains a large map of central Europe which
folds out at the back of the volume. All future editions
contain the concordance, but the 1950 alone contains
the map.

The 1962 Scottdale Printing

The eighth edition of Der Mértyrer Spiegel was
printed in 1962. The title page states that it was
“Published for use in the Old Order Amish and Men-
nonite churches in the U.S.A., Canada, and Mexico.”
The imprint of the ““‘Mennonite Publishing House, Scott-
dale, Pennsylvania’’ appears beneath that statement.
Thus, the impression is given that the Mennonite
Publishing House published the book.

Although the 1962 edition was printed at Scottdale,
it was actually published by Lester C. Byler, an Amish
layman of Middlefield, Ohio. He suffered from multiple
sclerosis and was not able to do heavy work. He own-
ed a small bookstore and operated a printing press on
which he printed memorial cards and religious sayings.
Although he did not print clothbound books, he did
publish some with the printing being done by commer-
cial printers.

In March of 1962, Byler inserted the following notice
in The Budget:

By request and since there is a great demand, we
have undertaken to have the German Martyrs’ Mirror
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reprinted. Thus, we sent some letters to all the church
districts asking for orders to help. If we have overlook-
ed any districts or groups, we want them to contact us.
You will receive our immediate attention.

Three months later a larger notice appeared in the
same newspaper. This time Byler mentioned that many
complaints had been made about the previous printing
and that he had found ‘‘a company that will print photo
offset from an earlier edition.”” He went on to mention
that the price would be $9.50 and that ‘*‘Many who would
have ordered but for the poor print done on the last edi-
tion can rest assured that there will be a good job done
this time.” :

The printing job was, indeed, superior to the 1950 edi-
tion. The printers photographed the 1915 edition which
resulted in the 1962 edition not having the sometimes-
smudgy, sometimes-too-light pages of the 1950 printing.
But, unfortunately, the printers did not correct the other
bad aspect of the previous printing—the reduced type
size. They, too, photographed the 1915 at 95%, but at
least it was clearer to read.

The 1962 edition of 1,000 copies was sold out within
five years.

The Pathway Printings

The ninth edition of Der Maértyrer Spiegel was
published in 1967 by Pathway Publishing Corporation,
an Amish group at Aylmer, Ontario with a branch office
at LaGrange, Indiana. Both addresses appear in the im-
print on the front title page. Letters in advance of the
printing were sent to all Amish congregations. A special
pre-publication price of $6.50 was offered.

The 1967 edition is an exact reproduction of the 1962,
since Pathway purchased the photographic negatives
directly from Lester C. Byler. Pathway, however, forgot
to change the imprint at the bottom of the title page at
the beginning of the second division so that it shows
““Mennonitischen Verlagshaus, Scottdale, Pennsylva-
nien”” and “1962.”” Another mistake occurred when the
title was stamped in gold on the volume’s spine.
“Mértyrer’’ is incorrectly spelled ‘*“Martnrer.”” This edi-
tion with a tan cloth cover was printed for Pathway by
Eerdmans Printing Company of Grand Rapids,
Michigan. A printing of 1,995 was made. ”

In 1973 the tenth German edition was again publish-
ed by Pathway Publishers with the same mistakes oc-
curring on the volume’s second title page and on the
spine. This edition consisted of 2,088 copies with light-
blue cloth covers and was printed by Eerdmans Print-
ing Company. Thus, the only difference between the
1967 and 1973 editions is the date on the front title page
and the colors of the cloth covers.

In 1981 the eleventh edition was published by
Pathway Publishers who had instructed the printers,
Eerdmans Printing Company, to change the date on the
front title page from 1973 to 1981, but they failed to do
s0. Thus, the only way the 1981 edition can be iden-
tified is by its dark-brown cloth cover. A printing of 1,933
copies was made.









